IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ASHLEY W. BENNETT

Appellant,

vs.

No. 82495

STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Dismissal of Petition for Determination of Factual Innocence Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

Neil A. Kaplan Out of State Counsel ID: 66431 Katherine E. Pepin Out of State Counsel ID: 66432 CLYDE SNOW & SESSIONS, PC 201 South Main Street, Suite 2200 Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 (801) 322-2516

Jennifer Springer Nevada Bar No. 013767 ROCKY MOUNTAIN INNOCENCE CENTER 358 South 700 East, B235 Salt Lake City, Utah 84102 (801) 355-1888

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Nev. Rev. Stat. 34.970(9) provides for an appeal from an order of the district court denying a hearing on a petition to establish factual innocence.

On January 18, 2021, the district court entered its Order denying Appellant Ashley W. Bennett's Petition for Determination of Factual Innocence (the "Petition"). This appeal is from that order.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it relates to a conviction for a Category A felony. Nev. R. App. P. 12(b)(2).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the district court erred when it dismissed Mr. Bennett's Innocence Petition without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

- a. Whether the district court erroneously classified Calvin Walker's eyewitness statement as merely impeachment evidence.
- b. Whether the district court erroneously classified Pamela Neal's recantation of her trial testimony as solely recantation evidence.
- 2. Whether the district court erred in considering the State's arguments

on the issues of recantation and impeachment when the State failed to file its response to those issues until more than 290 days after the Petition was filed and in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.970 (2020).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2002, Appellant Ashley W. Bennett ("Mr. Bennett") was convicted of murdering Joseph Williams.¹ He was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole.²

¹ App. Vol.2 145.

 $^{^{2}}$ Id.

Mr. Bennett directly appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court, and his sentence and conviction were affirmed on October 5, 2004.³ On November 10, 2004, Mr. Bennett filed his first Petition for Post-conviction Relief.⁴ An evidentiary hearing was conducted beginning on November 1, 2005, and concluding November 4, 2005.⁵ On November 29, 2005, Judge Michelle Leavitt denied Mr. Bennett's Petition for Post-conviction Relief.⁶ Mr. Bennett filed a Notice of Appeal with the appellate court on November 18, 2005.⁷ On December 15, 2005, Mr. Bennett filed a Motion to Appoint Appellate Counsel, which was denied on October 10, 2006, and no appellate decision was issued.⁸

On March 19, 2007, Mr. Bennett filed a pro se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2254.⁹ On May 18, 2010, the United States District Court denied Mr. Bennett's petition.¹⁰ The court also denied Mr. Bennett's Certificate of Appealability.¹¹ Through counsel, Mr. Bennett filed a Motion for Certificate of Appealability directly with the United States Court of Appeals for

³ App. Vol.2 154–62.
⁴ App. Vol.2 163–68.
⁵ Id.
⁶ Id.
⁷ App. Vol.2 150.
⁸ Id.
⁹ App. Vol.2 169–81.
¹⁰ Id.
¹¹ Id.

the Ninth Circuit on June 18, 2010.¹² On July 18, 2011, the court denied the motion.¹³

On February 10, 2020, Mr. Bennett filed a Petition for Determination of Factual Innocence (the "Petition") under the then-newly enacted Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.960 (2020) (also referred to as the "Innocence Statute").¹⁴ He argued that newly-discovered evidence, including an affidavit from the State's star witness recanting her trial testimony against Mr. Bennett and claiming that she was coerced by police into testifying at trial, and an affidavit from an eyewitness to the crime who stated that Mr. Bennett was not involved in the murder, established his factual innocence for the crime for which he was convicted.¹⁵ He also emphasized that evidence already in the record, evidence that the court is statutorily required to consider, points to his innocence, including an affidavit from actual perpetrator Anthony Gantt admitting to the crime and unequivocally stating that Mr. Bennett was not involved in the murder. On June 16, 2020, the district court ordered the State to respond to the Petition by July 15, 2020, and set a hearing on July 30, 2020, to determine whether the Petition met the statutory requirements outlined in Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.960.¹⁶

- 13 *Id*.
- ¹⁴ App. Vol.1 1.
- ¹⁵ App. Vol.1 1–31.
- ¹⁶ App. Vol.2 189.

¹² App. Vol.2 182–83.

The State filed its first Response to the Petition on July 15, 2020 (the "First Response"), arguing only that Mr. Bennett failed to prove that he is factually innocent because: (1) the affidavit of co-defendant Anthony Gantt ("Mr. Gantt") cannot constitute newly discovered evidence and that the Nevada Supreme Court has already ruled that it is not probable that a different result would have occurred at trial if Mr. Gantt had not testified as he did; (2) Mr. Bennett's claims regarding Calvin Walker ("Mr. Walker") are precluded based on Mr. Bennett's failure to raise the issue sooner; and (3) Mr. Bennett's claims regarding Pamela Neal ("Ms. Neal") are precluded based on Mr. Bennett's failure to raise the issue sooner.¹⁷ While the First Response included headings for arguments regarding recantation and impeachment, the State failed to include any substantive argument, legal support, or text under these headings.¹⁸ On July 23, 2020, Mr. Bennett filed a timely Reply in Support of the Petition that included arguments based on the issues raised by the State in its First Response and emphasizing that the State had waived all its other arguments by failing to provide any substantive text.¹⁹

Due to circumstances beyond Mr. Bennett's control, the district court continued the hearing on the Petition numerous times. The hearing was eventually set for December 7, 2020 (the "Hearing").

¹⁷ App. Vol.2 190–202.

¹⁸ App. Vol.2 201.

¹⁹ App. Vol.2 203.

On November 30, 2020, only a week before the hearing, approximately 138 days after the district court ordered the State to respond to the Petition, and without the district court's permission, the State filed a Supplemental Response to the Petition (the "Second Response").²⁰ The Second Response was the first time the State articulated its arguments that: (1) Ms. Neal's affidavit constituted solely recantation evidence; and (2) Mr. Walker's affidavit was merely impeachment evidence.²¹ The State raised these arguments again during the Hearing.²²

On January 18, 2021, the district court issued its order denying the Petition (the "Order"), ruling that Mr. Bennett failed to meet the requirements of subsection (2) of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.960 because: (1) Ms. Neal's affidavit constitutes solely recantation evidence; and (2) Mr. Walker's affidavit constitutes merely impeachment evidence.²³

²⁰ App. Vol.2 210–25.

 $^{^{21}}$ *Id*.

²² App. Vol.2 239–42.

²³ App. Vol.2 245–47.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Murder of Joseph Williams

On Saturday, March 3, 2001, police responded to reports of shots fired and a man down outside an apartment building in the Buena Vista Springs Apartments in North Las Vegas, Nevada.²⁴ When police arrived at the scene, they found Joseph Williams ("Mr. Williams") lying face down on the ground in the apartment courtyard with numerous gunshot wounds and approximately 25 to 50 people gathered around him.²⁵ Mr. Williams later died as a result of his injuries.²⁶

B. The Initial Police Investigation

Detective Michael Bodnar ("Detective Bodnar") was the lead detective assigned to investigate Mr. Williams' murder.²⁷ Officers went door to door at the apartment buildings in the surrounding courtyard to obtain witness statements; however, none of the occupants admitted to knowing anything about the shooting.²⁸ By the evening of March 3, 2001, police had not spoken to any individuals who admitted to seeing the shooting.²⁹

²⁴ App. Vol.1 85.

²⁵ App. Vol.1 86–88.

²⁶ App. Vol.1 108–09.

²⁷ App. Vol.1 114.

²⁸ App. Vol.1 88.

²⁹ App. Vol.1 116.

Although the police did not interview anyone who admitted to witnessing the shooting, they did speak to James Golden ("Mr. Golden"), a security guard at Buena Vista Springs Apartments, who heard the gunshots.³⁰ As Mr. Golden ran toward the scene, he witnessed three "suspicious" individuals from approximately 20 yards away.³¹ Mr. Golden recognized one of the suspicious individuals as Mr. Gantt.³² Mr. Golden described all three suspicious individuals as black, under the age of 18, and wearing black pants and white shirts.³³

On March 7, 2001, Detective Bodnar received an anonymous phone call from a woman who refused to identify herself but claimed that she had information regarding Mr. Williams' murder.³⁴ After the phone call, Detective Bodnar decided to speak with Mr. Gantt and Mr. Bennett.³⁵ On March 21, 2001, Detective Bodnar interviewed Mr. Gantt, who was at juvenile hall for an unrelated incident.³⁶ Mr. Gantt lied about being involved with or knowing anything about Mr. Williams' murder.³⁷

³⁰ App. Vol.1 77–78.

³¹ App. Vol.1 80.

³² App. Vol.1 82.

³³ App. Vol.1 84.

³⁴ App. Vol.1 117.

³⁵ App. Vol.1 117–19.

³⁶ App. Vol.1 117–18.

³⁷ App. Vol.1 118.

On March 24, 2001, Detective Bodnar and gang officers first interviewed Mr. Bennett.³⁸ Detective Bodnar pointedly asked Mr. Bennett why he killed Mr. Williams.³⁹ Mr. Bennett responded with surprise and emphasized that he could never kill anyone.⁴⁰ Throughout the rest of the interview, Mr. Bennett repeatedly denied being involved in Mr. Williams' murder.⁴¹

C. Pamela Neal

Ms. Neal was charged with conspiracy to commit murder, burglary while in possession of a deadly weapon with substantial bodily harm, discharging a firearm at or into a structure, and coercion with use of a deadly weapon for a shooting that occurred at an apartment on April 15, 2001, where a six-year-old girl was shot in the face.⁴² The victim's grandmother and an eyewitness to the crime identified Ms. Neal as the shooter and, after being questioned by police, Ms. Neal ultimately confessed to forcing her way into the apartment.⁴³

On May 1, 2001, two weeks after she was charged, Ms. Neal accompanied Tammy Hannibal ("Ms. Hannibal") to the police station to speak with Detective Rodrigues about the unrelated murder of Eric Bass ("Mr. Bass"), Ms. Neal's

³⁸ App. Vol.1 119.

³⁹ App. Vol.1 120.

⁴⁰ App. Vol.1 139.

⁴¹ *Id*.

⁴² App. Vol.1 129.

⁴³ App. Vol.1 49–50.

cousin.⁴⁴ At this time, Ms. Neal erroneously believed that Mr. Bennett was involved in Mr. Bass's murder. While they were at the police station, Detective Bodnar met with Ms. Neal, who claimed that she was standing outside her apartment door when Mr. Williams was murdered, although she could not remember either the date or time of the shooting.⁴⁵ When Detective Bodnar first spoke with Ms. Neal, he was aware Ms. Neal was facing serious felony charges.⁴⁶

Ms. Neal alleged that Mr. Bennett (whom Ms. Neal knew as "Face"), Mr. Gantt, and Lailoni Morrison ("Mr. Morrison"), as well as "three to four other Gersons"⁴⁷ were responsible for Mr. Williams' murder.⁴⁸ Ms. Neal later identified Louis Matthews ("Mr. Matthews") and Jermaine Webb ("Mr. Webb") as also involved in Mr. Williams' murder.⁴⁹

D. Mr. Gantt

On May 7, 2001, Detective Bodnar interviewed Mr. Gantt a second time at juvenile hall.⁵⁰ During this interview, Mr. Gantt lied again and maintained that he was not involved in Mr. Williams' murder. However, in direct contradiction of his

⁴⁴ App. Vol.1 131.

⁴⁵ App. Vol.1 51.

⁴⁶ App. Vol.1 129.

⁴⁷ "Gersons" refers to the Gerson Park Kingsmen ("GPK"), a local gang. Mr. Bennett was not a member of GPK or any other gang. App. Vol.1 8.

⁴⁸ App. Vol.1 121.

⁴⁹ App. Vol.1 133.

⁵⁰ App. Vol.1 125.

original statement, Mr. Gantt claimed he knew who was involved.⁵¹ Mr. Gantt claimed that Mr. Bennett, Mr. Matthews, Frederick Schneider ("Mr. Schneider"), Antwan Graves ("Mr. Graves"), and Mr. Morrison were responsible for Mr. Williams' murder.⁵² Mr. Gantt contended this group was walking toward the Hunt house (a gang hangout for the Rolling 60s, another local gang and a rival of GPK) when they encountered Mr. Williams.⁵³ After almost an hour of questioning, Mr. Gantt changed his statement again and admitted to shooting Mr. Williams.⁵⁴ According to Mr. Gantt, Mr. Bennett, Mr. Matthews, Mr. Graves, Mr. Schneider, and Mr. Morrison surrounded Mr. Williams and began shooting.⁵⁵

E. Mr. Bennett's Arrest and Second Interrogation

On May 17, 2001, Detective Bodnar drafted and submitted an affidavit requesting arrest warrants for certain individuals, including Mr. Bennett, in large part based on Ms. Neal's statement.⁵⁶ Detective Bodnar did not inform the issuing court about the serious felony charges pending against Ms. Neal in his affidavit.⁵⁷

⁵⁴ App. Vol.1 135–37.

⁵⁶ App. Vol.1 130, 132.

⁵¹ App. Vol.1 126.

⁵² App. Vol.1 125.

⁵³ App. Vol.1 128.

⁵⁵ Id.

⁵⁷ Id.

On May 18, 2001, Detective Bodnar arrested and interviewed Mr. Bennett.⁵⁸ Mr. Bennett again denied any involvement in Mr. Williams' murder.⁵⁹

F. Preliminary Hearing

Mr. Bennett, Mr. Morrison, Mr. Matthews, Mr. Gantt, and Mr. Webb appeared as co-defendants in Mr. Williams' murder at the preliminary hearing on June 5, 2001.⁶⁰ Before Ms. Neal was called to the stand, the Court noted that at the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, Ms. Neal would be arraigned on charges of conspiracy to commit murder, burglary, and possession.⁶¹ The prosecution informed the court that they wanted to dismiss the charges against Ms. Neal "right now" because they "[could not] prove the case" against her.⁶² After an exchange with the court, Ms. Neal was granted full immunity by the prosecutor for all charges after being pressed on this issue.⁶³

Ms. Neal testified that she witnessed Williams' murder from her balcony as she was leaving to pick up her neighbor, Michelle Wilson ("Ms. Wilson"), at 3:35

⁵⁹ Id.

⁶² App. Vol.1 228–29.

⁵⁸ App. Vol.1 138.

⁶⁰ App. Vol.1 167.

⁶¹ App. Vol.1 228.

⁶³ App. Vol.1 230.

p.m.⁶⁴ While Ms. Neal claimed that she witnessed the entire shooting, she repeatedly claimed that she "wasn't looking" when she was unable to give details.⁶⁵

When asked to identify those involved, Ms. Neal identified one of the shooters as Mr. Morrison, whom she had known for approximately five to six years, Mr. Gantt, and Mr. Bennett.⁶⁶ Ms. Neal testified that although she did not see Mr. Bennett's gun, she "knew" he was holding one.⁶⁷ Ms. Neal also said she could identify Mr. Bennett and Mr. Morrison even though they were standing with their backs towards her.⁶⁸

When she was initially interviewed by police, Ms. Neal identified Mr. Webb and Mr. Matthews as shooters.⁶⁹ However, at the preliminary hearing, Ms. Neal explained she identified Mr. Webb and Mr. Matthews as shooters originally because she recognized them from around the neighborhood and saw them on the day of the shooting but could no longer say whether they were involved.⁷⁰ She excused her inconsistent identifications in several ways: first, she claimed that because there were so many people, she did not focus on Mr. Webb or Mr. Matthews; second, she decided that either she could not see their hands or was not

- ⁶⁹ App. Vol.1 71–73.
- ⁷⁰ App. Vol.2 10, 22–23.

⁶⁴ App. Vol.1 234–37.

⁶⁵ App. Vol.2 34, 58, 87.

⁶⁶ App. Vol.1 235, 242, 248; App. Vol.2 5.

⁶⁷ App. Vol.2 4.

⁶⁸ App. Vol.2 58.

certain whether they had guns; third, she insisted she simply could not remember who was there that day; and finally, she claimed that she knew Mr. Webb and Mr. Matthews were there, but she may have been mixed up about their involvement.⁷¹ After Ms. Neal was asked to identify the people she saw who witnessed the shooting, she stopped responding to questions and refused to testify further.⁷² Ms. Neal refused to provide names even after the court instructed her to answer, so the court threatened to arrest Ms. Neal and hold her in contempt.⁷³ Ms. Neal then told the court that Ms. Wilson and another neighbor witnessed the shooting.⁷⁴ At the conclusion of her preliminary hearing testimony, Ms. Neal asserted that officers had driven her to the hearing at her request and denied receiving any funds from the District Attorney's office or police department.⁷⁵

At the end of the preliminary hearing, the court determined there was probable cause that Mr. Bennett, Mr. Morrison, and Mr. Gantt committed the offense of murder with a deadly weapon.⁷⁶ The charges against Mr. Webb and Mr. Matthews were dismissed.⁷⁷

- ⁷⁴ App. Vol.2 75.
- ⁷⁵ App. Vol.2 99.
- ⁷⁶ App. Vol.2 134–35.
- ⁷⁷ App. Vol.2 135.

⁷¹ App. Vol.2 22–24, 34–36, 95.

⁷² App. Vol.2 63.

⁷³ App. Vol.2 74.

On June 7, 2001, the State of Nevada filed a one-count information charging Mr. Bennett and co-defendants Mr. Morrison and Mr. Gantt with murder with the use of a deadly weapon.⁷⁸

G. Trial and Direct Appeal

Mr. Bennett's trial began on January 22, 2002, in Las Vegas, Nevada.⁷⁹ After the testimony was presented, the jury found him guilty of all charges.⁸⁰

- 1. <u>Ms. Neal's Trial Testimony</u>
 - a. Ms. Neal's testimony regarding witnessing the crime was inconsistent with her prior statements and the evidence.

Ms. Neal's trial testimony not only introduced new inconsistencies but also reiterated her prior inconsistencies, both with her own statements and with the uncontroverted evidence. The following highlighted inconsistencies corroborate Ms. Neal's affidavit recanting her trial testimony and make it clear that she did not witness the shooting of Mr. Williams:

i. <u>Timing</u>: Ms. Neal told the jury she left her apartment around
3:30 p.m. to take her friend, Ms. Wilson, to work around four when she
witnessed the shooting.⁸¹ She also indicated that she was certain she left her
apartment at 3:30 p.m. because she picked her son up at school at 3:20 p.m.

⁷⁸ App. Vol.2 140.

⁷⁹ App. Vol.2 144.

⁸⁰ App. Vol.2 145.

⁸¹ App. Vol.1 51.

and had just arrived back home when the shooting occurred.⁸² However, police responded to the scene at 3:09 p.m. after the shooting had already taken place.⁸³ Further, the shooting took place on a Saturday when her son would not have been in school.⁸⁴

Mr. Bennett's alleged weapon: At trial, Ms. Neal testified that
 Mr. Bennett used a silver gun during the shooting.⁸⁵ However, at the
 preliminary hearing, Ms. Neal testified that she did not see Mr. Bennett's
 gun.⁸⁶

b. Ms. Neal's criminal charges were dropped.

Ms. Neal told the jury that the charges pending against her on the day of Mr. Bennett's preliminary hearing were dropped due to "lack of evidence."⁸⁷ However, outside the presence of the jury, defense counsel informed the court that there was significant, material evidence that implicated Ms. Neal in that crime.⁸⁸ The court found that it was the District Attorney's decision to determine whether charges should be brought against particular defendants and therefore never inquired into what evidence the police had gathered against Ms. Neal, which included Ms. Neal's

- ⁸⁶ App. Vol.2 4.
- ⁸⁷ App. Vol.1 62.
- ⁸⁸ App. Vol.1 63.

⁸² App. Vol.1 65.

⁸³ App. Vol.1 85.

⁸⁴ App. Vol.1 66.

⁸⁵ App. Vol.1 58.

confession that she forced her way into the apartment where the young girl was shot.⁸⁹

2. <u>Mr. Golden's Trial Testimony</u>

Mr. Golden testified he saw three suspicious individuals about 20 yards away from the crime scene.⁹⁰ Mr. Golden identified Mr. Gantt as one of the suspicious individuals.⁹¹ Mr. Golden estimated that all three suspicious individuals were under the age of 18.⁹² Despite being called as a witness to the immediate aftermath of the shooting at Mr. Bennett's trial, Mr. Golden did not identify Mr. Bennett and was never asked whether he even saw Mr. Bennett on the day of the shooting.

3. <u>Mr. Gantt's Trial Testimony</u>

On November 26, 2001, Mr. Gantt entered into a plea agreement with the State to testify against his co-defendants, including Mr. Bennett, in exchange for a lesser sentence of ten years to life on a reduced second-degree murder charge.⁹³ Before the agreement, Mr. Gantt was facing a potential sentence of life without the possibility of parole for first-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon.⁹⁴ Shortly

⁹¹ App. Vol.1 82.

⁸⁹ App. Vol.1 64.

⁹⁰ App. Vol.1 80.

⁹² App. Vol.1 84.

⁹³ App. Vol.1 96.

⁹⁴ App. Vol.1 104.

after he was sworn in, Mr. Gantt refused to testify against Mr. Bennett.⁹⁵ The court took a recess and gave Mr. Gantt the opportunity to speak privately with his counsel.⁹⁶ After the recess, Mr. Gantt agreed to testify against Mr. Bennett.⁹⁷

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