IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ASHLEY BENNETT,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 13 2021 10:10 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 82495

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Determination of Factual Innocence Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

NEIL A. KAPLAN Out of State Counsel ID: 66431 KATHERINE E. PEPIN Out of State Counsel ID: 66432 Clyde Snow & Session, PC 201 South Main Street, Suite 2200 Salt Lake City, Utah 84111 (801) 322-2516

JENNIFER SPRINGER Nevada Bar #013767 Rocky Mountain Innocence Center 358 South 700 East, B235 Salt Lake City, Utah 84102 (801) 355-1888

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S PETITION BECAUSE IT DID NOT MEET HT REQUIREMENTS OF NRS 34.960

a. The district court did not improperly consider the State's Supplemental Response

As an initial matter, Appellant argues that the supplemental response filed by the State was improper. According to Appellant, the State untimely filed a response which raised new issues. However, the State made it clear to Appellant and the district court below that it had mistakenly filed only a draft response to the full petition. 2 AA 212.

Although Appellant now complains of the State's supplemental response, Appellant through his counsel never objected at the district court level or requested a continuance to file a reply. Failure to object at the time of the argument generally precludes appellate review. <u>Ringle v. Burton</u>, 120 Nev. 82, 94, 86 P.3d 1032, 1040 (2004).

At the oral argument for Appellant's petition in district court, the district court asked Appellant if he had received the State's supplemental response and had an opportunity to review it. 2 AA 229. Appellant specifically stated, "Yes. We are aware that it was filed. Mr. Chen (for the State) sent me an email and let me know." <u>Id.</u> Appellant then continued with his argument.

Moreover, the issues raised by the State in its supplemental response were not any arguments that could not have been anticipated, given the direct wording of the statute. The issue for the district court was always whether or not the newly presented evidence was enough to grant an evidentiary hearing or relief. Therefore, the prejudice seems very little considering that Appellant would have prepared to argue that its evidence qualified for relief under the statute.

b. Appellant has failed to present newly discovered evidence exists that, if credible, establishes a bona fide issue of factual innocence.

Separate from a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus, an individual may file a petition to establish factual innocence. NRS 34.900 – 34.990. Such a petition must establish that the petitioner is factually innocent based upon newly discovered evidence. NRS 34.920 – NRS 34.930. Evidence that is "newly discovered" evidence must be evidence "that was not available to petitioner at trial

or during the resolution by the trial court of any motion to withdraw a guilty plea or

motion for new trial and which is material to the determination of the issue of factual

innocence." NRS 34.930.

The bulk of the considerations that a district court must make with regards to

a petition to establish factual innocence are enumerated in NRS 34.960.

NRS 34.960 states in relevant part:

1. At any time after the expiration of the period during which a motion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence may be made pursuant to NRS 176.515, a person who has been convicted of a felony may petition the district court in the county in which the person was convicted for a hearing to establish the factual innocence of the person based on newly discovered evidence. A person who files a petition pursuant to this subsection shall serve notice and a copy of the petition upon the district attorney of the county in which the conviction was obtained and the Attorney General.

2. A petition filed pursuant to subsection 1 must contain an assertion of factual innocence under oath by the petitioner and must aver, with supporting affidavits or other credible documents, that:

(a) Newly discovered evidence exists that is specifically identified and, **if credible**, establishes a bona fide issue of factual innocence;

(b) The newly discovered evidence identified by the petitioner:

(1) Establishes innocence and is material to the case and the determination of factual innocence;

(2) Is not merely cumulative of evidence that was known, is not reliant solely upon recantation of testimony by a witness against the petitioner and is not merely impeachment evidence; and

(3) Is distinguishable from any claims made in any previous petitions;

3. In addition to the requirements set forth in subsection 2, a petition filed pursuant to subsection 1 must also assert that:

(a) Neither the petitioner nor the petitioner's counsel knew of the newly discovered evidence at the time of trial or sentencing or in time to include the evidence in any previously filed post-trial motion or postconviction petition, and the evidence could not have been discovered by the petitioner or the petitioner's counsel through the exercise of reasonable diligence; or

(b) A court has found ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to exercise reasonable diligence in uncovering the newly discovered evidence.

4. The court shall review the petition and determine whether the petition satisfies the requirements of subsection 2. If the court determines that the petition:

(a) Does not meet the requirements of subsection 2, the court shall dismiss the petition without prejudice, state the basis for the dismissal and send notice of the dismissal to the petitioner, the district attorney and the Attorney General.

(b) Meets the requirements of subsection 2, the court shall determine whether the petition satisfies the requirements of subsection 3. If the court determines that the petition does not meet the requirements of subsection 3, the court may:

(1) Dismiss the petition without prejudice, state the basis for the dismissal and send notice of the dismissal to the petitioner, the district attorney and the Attorney General; or

(2) Waive the requirements of subsection 3 if the court finds the petition should proceed to a hearing and that there is other evidence that could have been discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence by the petitioner or the petitioner's counsel at trial, and the other evidence:

(I) Was not discovered by the petitioner or the petitioner's counsel;

(II) Is material upon the issue of factual innocence; and(III) Has never been presented to a court.

(emphasis added).

In his petition below, Appellant presented three (3) affidavits from three (3) separate witnesses, two (2) of which testified at trial and one (1) who did not, to support his claim that he is factually innocent of the murder of Mr. Williams. Appellant's claim that the district court erred in denying his petition is meritless because Appellant failed to satisfy his burden under the statute. As NRS 34.960 clearly states, if the court determines that the petition. NRS 34.960 makes it incredibly clear that the newly discovered evidence must be specially identified, credible, and bona fide proof of factual innocence. The district court in this case held that the evidence presented did not meet this standard.

1. Calvin Walker

Appellant presented to the district court an affidavit from an individual named Calvin Walker, who did not testify at trial. In April of 2012, Walker issued an affidavit from High Desert State Prison claiming that Appellant was not involved with the murder of Williams. 1 AA 39-40. Upon entering prison, Walker says that he learned of Appellant's incarceration and decided to write his affidavit. Walker's affidavit stated that he was present the day of the shooting and that he did not see Appellant shoot at Mr. Williams. He explains that "everybody knows he [Appellant] did not do it," but he provides no reference of who "everybody" is. Walker's affidavit makes no mention of who was involved with the shooting, if not the Appellant.

In considering Mr. Walker's affidavit, the district court noted that he wrote his affidavit two months after entering prison and almost ten years after the incident. 2 AA 246. The affidavit attempted to cast doubt on the other witnesses that testified Appellant was the shooter (Neal and Gantt). As such, the district court indicated that Mr. Walker's affidavit amounted to mere impeachment testimony of Neal and Gantt.

Given Walker's situation as an inmate, and nothing to corroborate his affidavit, it was proper for the district court to hold that Walker's affidavit was not credible, and to treat his affidavit as mere impeachment evidence. Had Walker now taken the stand, his testimony would have simply refuted Neal and Gantt's testimony. If the standard were that any individual could write an affidavit calling for the exoneration of a convicted person, the mere acquiring of a statement contradicting the witnesses at trial would entitle every inmate to relief under the statute. This is why the court's determination of credibility is a pre-requisite under the statute. Here, the district court properly reviewed Walker's affidavit, and found it to be nothing more than impeachment evidence of two eye witnesses that testified at trial. Therefore, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying his petition.

2. Pam Neal

Furthermore, the district court correctly ruled that Neal's affidavit was not newly discovered evidence because it was a mere recantation of her prior testimony. The district court applied the direct language of NRS 34.960(2)(b) which does not consider a recantation of testimony by a witness to be considered newly discovered.

Appellant submitted a hand-written affidavit from Neal dated February 11, 2017. I AA 36-37. According to Neal's affidavit, she did not want to testify because she was not totally sure of the people that shot Mr. Williams. Neal goes on to say that she felt she was pressured to testify by the authorities, and that she told the authorities later after Appellant was convicted that she did not think he was one of the shooters.

Appellant argues that Neal's affidavit should provide him relief, in at least the granting of an evidentiary hearing, because it lays out that she was coerced by law enforcement to testify against Appellant. However, Neal was cross-examined at trial, and her testimony was the opposite of the alleged coercion that she now alleges in her affidavit. Defense was cross examining Neal on the fact that she was testifying to curry favor with prosecutors even though she had not actually received immunity or any benefits. RA 120-123. She adamantly denied that she was testifying against

Appellant because of any fear that she might be retaliated against by law enforcement.

Neal's affidavit is the definition of recanting testimony. Even if believed, her affidavit simply says at the time she was not totally sure he was one of the shooters or that now she does not think he was involved. In any light, Neal's affidavit was properly deemed as a mere recantation, and pursuant to the statute, the district court was proper to rule that this affidavit was insufficient to grant Appellant relief. Her affidavit did nothing to prove that Appellant was factually innocent of the charges.

3. Anthony Gantt

Appellant did not present Gantt's affidavit as newly discovered evidence because Appellant had previously raised Gantt's recantation as new evidence and failed to gain any relief. Gantt's recanting affidavit was signed on July 3, 2002, merely one month after Appellant had been sentenced having been found guilty at the trial which Gantt testified. Appellant admitted in his district court petition that the affidavit by Gantt was previously considered by this Court in Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, which was denied on November 4, 2005, and affirmed on August 29, 2006.

Clearly, Gantt's affidavit cannot be considered as newly discovered evidence. "Newly discovered evidence' means evidence that was not available to a petitioner at trial or during the resolution by the trial court of any motion to withdraw a guilty plea or motion for new trial and which is material to the determination of the issue of factual innocence." NRS 34.930. Therefore, this evidence was previously available to Appellant and presented to the courts and cannot be used as "newly discovered evidence" to form the basis of Appellant's petition.

Moreover, NRS 34.960(2)(b)(3) indicates that any newly discovered evidence must be distinguishable from any claims made in previous petitions. In Appellant's case, statements related to Anthony Gantt have been heavily litigated already. Thus, claims regarding the Gantt affidavit are barred by the law of the case doctrine and/or res judicata. "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797, 798 (1975) (quoting Walker v. State, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969)). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." Id. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799. Under the law of the case doctrine, issues previously decided on direct appeal may not be reargued in a habeas petition. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 879, 34 P.3d 519, 532 (2001) (citing McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 414-15, 990 P.2d 1263, 1275 (1999)). Furthermore, this Court cannot overrule the Nevada Supreme Court. NEV. CONST. Art. VI § 6.

This Court has ruled previously that Gantt's testimony was not newly discovered evidence and that it was not probable that a different result would have occurred at trial if Gantt had not testified as he did. RA 1-3. Additionally, this Court noted on Appellant's direct appeal that, if any witness intimidation occurred, Appellant was the one threatening and attempting to intimidate Gantt. ("Additionally, the State presented substantial credible evidence that Bennett was the source of intimidation.") 2 AA 155-156. Moreover, the district court had determined that Appellant failed to raise the Gantt affidavit in a timely manner. 2 AA 166. Therefore, Appellant's claims regarding Gantt are also barred by res judicata. See Mason v. State, 206 S.W.3d 869, 875 (Ark. 2005) (recognizing the doctrine's applicability in the criminal context); see also York v. State, 342 S.W. 528, 553 (Tex. Crim. Appl. 2011). Accordingly, by simply continuing to file motions with the same arguments, his motion is barred by the doctrines of the law of the case and res judicata. Id.; Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975). Therefore, Appellant's claims regarding Gantt are barred both by the law of the case and res judicata and the new affidavit of Gantt should not change the outcome of Appellant's case or entitle him to relief under his petition.

Because Appellant could not present Gantt's already discounted affidavit as newly discovered evidence, Appellant argued that the district court should now consider Gantt's affidavit to bolster Neal and Walker's affidavits. However, Gantt's affidavit does not in any way support the other affidavits. Gantt testified at trial and was subject to extensive cross-examination. At trial, Gantt testified that Appellant was one of the shooters of Mr. Williams. However, during his testimony, he made several statements that Neal either was wrong or not being truthful. For example, Gantt said that Neal was not telling the truth about Gantt being the last person to shoot Mr. Williams. 2 RA 255. Another examine was when Gantt said Neal was not a witness to the shooting. 2 RA 266.

The jury got to consider the fact that two of the State's witnesses not only had conflicting testimony, but that Gantt was even going so far as to discredit Neal's testimony. Yet despite Neal and Gantt both testifying, the jury still found beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant was one of the individuals responsible for the murder.

When considering the evidence that was adduced at trial to the affidavits that Appellant presented, the district court correctly decided that the Neal affidavit was solely a recantation of her previous testimony, and that Walker's affidavit was simply impeachment evidence of Neal and Gantt's trial testimony. Given that the statute is clearly that the newly discovered evidence must be more, the district court properly decided to deny Appellant's petition.

///

///

15

c. Recantation of a witness does not qualify as newly discovered evidence under NRS 34.960.

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